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PREFACE


East London was the oldest and greatest of the suburbs of London, the country home of her merchant princes, the open spaces, hunting grounds and playing fields of her citizens, the muster-grounds of her trained bands, the practising ground of her archers, as well as the refuge of craftsmen seeking to escape the regulation of her guilds, the receptacle of the overflow of her industrial population, and one of the principal sources of supply of her necessaries of life.


Sir Hubert Llewellyn-Smith, 1930





The East End is a vast city, as famous in its way as any city men have built. But who knows the East End? It is down through Cornhill and out beyond Leadenhall Street and Aldgate Pump, one will say; a shocking place where he once went with a curate. An evil growth of slums which hide human creeping things; where foul men and women live on penn’orths of gin, where collars and clean shirts are not yet invented, where every citizen wears a black eye, and no man combs his hair. Our street is not a place like this.


Arthur Morrison, ‘A Street’, Macmillan’s Magazine, 1891
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LONDON’S BACKYARD





 


 





‘The East End’ is generally taken to mean poverty, deprivation and the vibrant subculture that grew up in the slum which, for about a hundred years, seethed like a boil on the side of the richest city in the world. Historians of London are strangely neglectful of the earlier times, while recollections of this ‘Jewish East End’ abound. It is as if there was no life in the East End before that era of modern folklore. Tales are endlessly told of the sufferings and of tough East Enders struggling through, of the good old, bad old days of eel and pie shops, of cheery costermongers, of the sharing and caring that went on in the dark hovels. Just over a hundred years ago Walter Besant wrote his famous and despairing description of the East End, broadcasting the ‘unparalleled magnitude of its meanness and monotony … line upon line, row upon row, never ending lines’ of dingy houses up squalid courts. No carriages were to be seen in any of its 500 miles of streets; no one of any account went there except, briefly, for good works. This ‘Unlovely City’, as populous as Berlin or Philadelphia, was the ugly underbelly of the booming metropolis, where orphans slept on rooftops, the dead bodies of children were left to rot in the streets, women worked at their needle for eighteen hours a day, match girls died of phossijaw, drunks reeled and prostitutes plied their trade.


It was not always so, but neither did the Tower Hamlets turn overnight from a scattering of pretty little cottages among market gardens and windmills. There was a time when carriages rattled merrily east of Aldgate pump, passing along the busy, thriving highways to elegant houses among the lush watermeadows. As we shall see, the East End has a history that is quite as much worthy of attention as the City which spawned it and the West End which despised it.


This book is the story of that old East End, before the Docks, before Jack the Ripper, when the suburbs, villages and hamlets east of the Tower were independent places, with their own identities, before they became subsumed into London.


The area defined


I have, like my eminent predecessor Sir Hubert Llewellyn-Smith, taken only the area covered by the borough of Tower Hamlets as my subject. The term ‘East End’, which I have used anachronistically, throughout, only came into general usage in the late nineteenth century. It is a very vague term, embracing what are now the London boroughs of Newham, Hackney, parts of Islington, as well as Tower Hamlets. The true East End, however, is the area to the immediate east of the City of London. I regret the omission of Shoreditch, which has rich history, not least for being the cradle of London’s theatre, but it belongs to the history of Hackney.


The borough of Tower Hamlets comprises most of the ancient parish of Stepney, including its hamlets (see below); the ancient parish of St Leonard Bromley; some areas bordering on the City, including the Tower, Tower Hill, the precinct of St Katherine, the Liberties of East Smithfield and Norton Folgate, the parishes of St Botolph Aldgate (part, including the Old Artillery Ground) and Holy Trinity, Minories, St Botolph Bishopsgate (part). The Portsoken was the ancient name of the strip of land running from Bishopsgate down to the river, including the precinct of St Katherine’s, East Smithfield, the parishes of St Botolph, Aldgate and Holy Trinity Minories, incorporating part of what is now Spitalfields, Whitechapel and Wapping. Its eastern boundary was Nightingale Lane, now Thomas More Street.


The London Borough of Tower Hamlets was created in 1965, merging the old (1899) boroughs of Stepney, Bethnal Green and Poplar. The 1899 Local Government Act had created three metropolitan boroughs: Bethnal Green, coterminous with its parish; Poplar, which included Stratford Bow and Bromley; and Stepney, which was all the rest, including Whitechapel, East Smithfield, the Liberty of the Tower, Holy Trinity Minories, the Old Artillery Ground and Norton Folgate. The name Tower Hamlets seems to have been first used in the sixteenth century, when the Constable of the Tower was Lord Lieutenant of Tower Hamlets and commanded the bands of the Tower Hamlets Militia.


Stepney parish jurisdiction evolved from the Bishop of London’s vill, which included Hackney and Bromley. In 1086 the bishop tried to take over Bromley parish, unsuccessfully; it is not known when they separated. It covered the area bounded by the Lea, the eastern boundary of Middlesex, the Thames and the City until Whitechapel parish was created in 1338 (c. 211 acres). The boundaries were delineated in 1703: the Thames to the south, Bromley to the east and West Ham (across the Lea), Hackney to the north, Shoreditch to the north-west, Bishopsgate Without and Portsoken wards, and the parishes of St Botolph’s Bishopsgate and Aldgate to the west; East Smithfield and St Katharine’s lay in the Portsoken and Aldgate parish.


The ancient parish of Stepney was 4,150 acres at its greatest. It comprised Mile End Old Town, Mile End New Town, Ratcliff, Whitechapel, Wapping Whitechapel (the little riverside strip), Wapping Stepney (St George’s in the East), Stratford Bow, Shadwell, Spitalfields, Bethnal Green Limehouse, Poplar and the Isle of Dogs with Blackwall, Millwall and Cubitt Town. During the latter part of the seventeenth century and the eighteenth new parishes were created as the population grew; these were St Paul Shadwell (68 acres) in 1670; Christ Church Spitalfields (73 acres) and St George’s in the East (244 acres) in 1729; St Mary Bow (565 acres) and St Anne Limehouse (244 acres) in 1730; St Matthew Bethnal Green (755 acres) in 1743; and All Saints’ Poplar (1,158 acres) in 1817. Stepney now comprised three hamlets: Mile End Old Town (677 acres), Mile End New Town (42 acres) and Ratcliff (111 acres).




 


 


 


 


 


 





Part I


LONDON’S OLDEST SUBURB



from earliest times to c. 1500








Chapter 1


OLDER THAN LONDON ITSELF


Prehistory, Romans and Saxons


The very first Londoner of whom we have mortal remains happens to be an ‘East Ender’, a Neolithic lass whose skeleton was recently found in Blackwall, lying on her left, curled round in a foetal position, with a pot and a flint knife. She was buried there about 6,000 years ago, but there are signs of human life around London stretching back many millions of generations before that.


Humans, or something like humans, first appeared in the London area in about 400,000 BC, when the weather was Mediterranean and a land bridge joined Britain to the Continent. In those days lions roared in Limehouse, bears roamed in Bethnal Green, rhinoceroses in Ratcliff, elephants in East Smithfield and Neanderthals, smaller than us, seriously carnivorous, with beetling brows and receding chins, hunted by chasing herds of animals to their death over cliffs or into marshes. Traces of these near-human creatures have been found in Rainham and Woodford.


Over thousands of years it got colder and colder, and the land was covered with ice. The Neanderthals probably retreated to southern Europe, returning about 60,000 years ago to hunt the woolly mammoths, reindeer and horses that now lived in the British arctic tundra, where winter temperatures might be as low as −25°C. By c. 30,000 BC they had died out and were replaced by modern humans who, it is thought, originated in Africa. By c. 13,000 BC Britain had warmed into fruitful life, and the vast freezing plains were covered first in pine forests and then with oak and birch. People lived in the Thames and Lea valleys more or less continually from this distant era, only forced to retreat to higher ground when, about 8,500 years ago, the sea rose, submerging the area and turning Britain temporarily into a group of islands.


Archaeologists have found evidence of the earliest British homo sapiens living in the early Neolithic period (8,000–3,000 BC) around London, in Essex at Rainham, Ilford, Upminster and Dagenham. Semi-nomadic hunter-gatherers, they built wooden huts to live in, mainly on the river terraces, and hunted the roe, wild cattle, red deer and boar which ran in the forests. Between 3,500 and 350 BC farming started, the growing of cereals and the herding of cattle; clearings were made in the forests and something like villages started to dot the land. Traces of enclosures have been found to the west of London, with entrances aligned with the setting or rising sun. In the east a late Neolithic (3,500–2,500 BC) trackway has been found in Silvertown, and a handful of burnt grains of wheat in Canning Town hint at early arable farming. There are signs of the beginnings of the human preoccupation with an afterlife, as people, like the Blackwall lass, started to be buried with equipment for their journey into the great unknown. The river Thames, which provided so many of the necessities of life, became an object of veneration, and votive gifts were thrown into the waters to gratify or appease the powerful spirits.


By the late Bronze Age, (1,000–750 BC), when women wove woollen cloth and men fashioned fine metal utensils and ornaments, the countryside was beginning to have an appearance that we might recognise, with field systems and hedges planted to divide farm from farm. At some point river levels appear to have risen again, and wooden tracks were built across the new marshy meadows: on the Isle of Dogs a timber platform was recently discovered at Atlas Wharf. At Old Ford, where the river Lea was readily crossable and where there are hints of a much older settlement, there grew up a village, presumably a collection of round huts, with perhaps a forge, where Lefevre Walk now is. Signs of Bronze Age life have been found in Stepney village and in Bromley.


So, before the Romans came to Rye, and before there was any London, or any London of significance, there had been habitation in the ‘East End’ going back deep into the Celtic twilight and beyond. The gravel soils of Stepney, Bow and Bethnal Green, lying on top of London clay, lightly wooded with oak and beech, interspersed with glades and open grasslands, were among the most fertile in the south of England. The woods were easily cleared to make cornfields and the oak trees provided food for pigs and timber for building. In the alluvial parts, Wapping and the Isle of Dogs, where river mud was deposited, there was excellent pasture when water levels were low.


Lying as it did between two navigable tidal rivers, the Thames and the Lea, our area was a good place to live; it was easy to travel around by boat, to trade with neighbours and continental Europe; and there was a plentiful supply of water not just from the rivers but from abundant springs and wells, as at Shadwell. This and others were on the edge of the flood plain, where the water that has sunk through the gravel around, unable to permeate the clay below, trickles along until it can find a way out. The whole triangle of land was criss-crossed with streams. The brook (hence Brook Street in Poplar) that was to be christened the Black Ditch in the eighteenth century rose near Spitalfields, crossed the Mile End Road at Cambridge Heath Road, then ran along north of Stepney church, turning south to join the Thames at Limehouse Dock. Another short stream rose in Wellclose Square, ran along Nightingale Lane (now Sir Thomas More Street) and into the Thames at Crassh Mills in Wapping. One rose in the gravel near Shadwell Well (where St Paul’s Shadwell now stands); another started in Bromley and crossed Poplar High Street; another rose in Goodman’s Fields (Whitechapel) and ran south into the Thames where now Tower Bridge stands.


By the time of the first Roman invasions (55 and 54 BC) this rich and watery place was well settled, and, as all over the country, the people of what we call the Iron Age were organised into tribes or embryonic kingdoms. According to Roman sources these were warlike bands of rough folk, recent immigrants from northern Gaul, whose so-called towns were timber fortresses in thickets defended with ditches and banks. Their villages were collections of large round dwellings, with barns for storage of grain and stockades for beasts; their gods were the wee folk of good and evil, spirits lurking in trees and springs, hobgoblins, animal-headed men and squinting hunchbacks. From their headquarters far away in Anglesey the powerful priests and judges, the Druids, held some considerable sway over all the tribes in the Midlands and south-east, supervising wide-scale human sacrifice. In this fierce world of faery and wickermen, into which the great Caesar marched his legions, the site of Greater London seems to have been peripheral to the politics of the time, a sort of no-man’s land lying where four kingdoms met. These were the territories of three major Belgic tribes: the Trinovantes of Essex, with a capital near Colchester, the Catuvellauni (‘good in battle’), of Hertfordshire, the Atrebates, to the west, with their fortress at Silchester, and in Kent the Cantiaci. Overlooking the fields and marshes to the east of London’s site, in what is now Ilford, rose an enormous fortress, at 60 acres one of the largest in Britain, with ramparts 20ft high, towering over Barking Creek and watching over the valley. Built in the second century BC, Uphall Camp marks the boundary of Trinovantes territory, guarding Essex from the Catuvellauni, who ruled from their headquarters at Wheathampstead.


It was the ambition of the Catuvellauni that brought Julius Caesar to these shores, or was at least his excuse for intervention. Invited by the Trinovantes to protect them from their neighbours, he trounced the aggressors, with their 4,000 war chariots and, having received their submission, retired, leaving the Celtic warlords to their own devices. By the time of the Claudian colonisation of Britain, some hundred years later, Cunobelin (Shakespeare’s Cymbeline), King of the Catuvellauni, had forged a new kingdom, adding to his possessions in Hertfordshire, South Cambridgeshire, Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire the Essex territory of the Trinovantes and that of the Cantiaci in Kent. His sons, Caractacus and Togodomus, ruled this wide domain from Camulodunum (Colchester), the old Trivonantes’ fortress. So when Aulus Plautius, commander of the emperor’s forces, led the invasion of Britain in AD 43, the British capital at Colchester was the focus of the attack – and Tower Hamlets was on his route. Our entry into the historical East End starts with the glittering and terrifying martial rhythm of the legions, marching from the Thames to the Lea, led by the Emperor Claudius, the youthful Vespasian at his side, with elephants, horses and soldiers crashing through the shallows at Old Ford.


Although Roman sources are not specific enough about topography to allow us to trace the invaders’ route exactly, it is almost certain that the Romans used the Old Ford to cross the Lea. Aulus Plautius and his troops landed in Kent, fought their way to the Thames, which they crossed, possibly at Greenwich or perhaps 1 mile to the west of the City, where the roads to Verulamium and Canterbury align, and where the river might be crossed through about 5ft of water at low tide. There, having got into difficulties, they camped and awaited the arrival of Claudius from Italy, at least six weeks later. There followed a victorious march to Colchester and the annexation of Britain to the Empire.


Much rests on the account of Roman historian Dio Cassius, not least regarding the founding of London itself, so it is worth quoting the relevant passage in full:





The Britons withdrew to the Thames at a point where it flows into the sea and at high tide forms a lake. This they crossed with ease since they knew precisely where the ground was firm and the way passable. The Romans, however, in pursuing them, got into difficulties here. Once again the Celts swam across, while others crossed by a bridge a little way upstream and they engaged the enemy from several sides at once, cutting many of them down. However, in pursuing the garrisons without due precautions, they got into marshes from which it was difficult to find a way out and lost a number of men.





According to R.G. Collingwood the swamps they got lost in were those of the numerous branches of the lower Lea. This may or may not have been the case; Dio Cassius was writing at least 150 years after the event. No firm conclusions can be drawn as to where they crossed the Thames, although their camp was presumably on the twin hills that grew speedily into Londinium, and within two decades was, according to Tacitus, a flourishing city. The probability of the army using the ancient ford over the Lea, however, is very high; it was the obvious route to take. The emperor’s forces needed to cross the river to get to Colchester, and there was an ancient turf chariot trackway that led there, passing through the river at Old Ford. Westwards it probably followed the line of Bethnal Green Road, Old Street and so into Oxford Street, thence running towards the major settlement at Brentford and on to the capital of the Atrebates at Silchester.


Within ten years or so of the invasion this road, more ancient than any of the City’s streets, was made into a three-lane highway, Roman style. It appears to have stayed in use until Bow Bridge was built at Stratford in the twelfth century. In 1845 traces of the old road were discovered, running closely parallel to today’s Roman Road, where a colourful market has sold the necessities and fripperies of life to East Enders since 1888. Masses of Roman herringbone masonry found in the bed of the Lea nearby indicates that there was a paved ford here, and very recent excavations at nearby Le Fevre Walk and Parnell Road have placed the ribbon development along this road and around the river crossing among the major inhabited sites in the London area both in Roman and pre-Roman times.


So the village of Old Ford is older than London itself – perhaps. There is, to date, no archaeological evidence of any pre-Roman settlement where the great port grew, which was to fashion and finally absorb the hamlets between the Thames and the Lea. On the face of it this seems unlikely, as the ‘square mile’ offered a prime site, a natural fort on twin hills that rose above the largest river in the country, set in a wide, fertile valley and naturally embanked with steep gravel banks. It was an excellent spot for landing ships and men and for lively trade with the Continent, which was much in evidence in the decades before Roman colonisation. According to Stow it was chosen as the ‘royal city’ because it ‘reaches furthest into the belly of the land’ and ‘openeth indifferently upon France and Flanders’. The entomology of its name is debatable; traditionally it was thought to derive from Llyndin, meaning a lake fort; these days it is said to derive from Plowonida, which means a river that is too wide to ford. Either way it is an ancient British name, which might argue that there was a settlement there, although the Romans are said to have adopted indigenous names for new towns in conquered territories. The most significant evidence for a pre-Roman settlement at London is the fact that, according to Tacitus, there was a flourishing city there within eighteen years of Plautius’s arrival. From a mere camp arose, in an astonishingly short time, a new town, an oppidum ‘celebrated for the gathering of dealers and commodities’.


When considering the origins of London or, indeed, the prehistory of its east side, it is worth remembering that archaeology has only evolved recently into a serious and systematic pursuit. Although our forebears were fascinated by accidental finds, as John Stow was by the discovery of a Roman vessel still containing liquid in Spitalfields in 1576, it is really only since the 1920s that it has become a scientific study, bolstered by new dating methods. In the 1860s Colonel Lane Fox (Pitt Rivers) thought he had discovered the remains of the London ‘lake fortress’ of Cassivellaunus, Caesar’s protagonist, in pile structures on the banks of the Wallbrook. In 1928 Sir Mortimer Wheeler’s investigations revealed that it was no such thing, being Roman works of a much later date. The western market area of Lundenwic, now thought to be the main site of Saxon London, was only discovered in 1985 at the Aldwych (old market). As we have seen, ongoing excavations at Old Ford are revealing a continuity of occupation since the Bronze Age, and this, with discoveries made at Shadwell since 1975, have quite changed the traditional view of the Roman East End. The story of London may shift at any moment. Sir Christopher Wren noted some Roman work below the foundations of the medieval cathedral when he was building St Paul’s; who knows what lies beneath that?


As legends have a comforting way of turning out to be true, or partially true, it should be remembered, that, in medieval and early modern times London was believed to have been a great city 1,000 years before the Romans came, founded in 1,074 BC by one Brutus, great-grandson of Virgil’s Aeneas. Like Rome itself, London was the creation of a fugitive from Troy. A Welsh bishop, Geoffrey of Monmouth, composed a History of the Kings of Britain in the twelfth century, based on ‘lost’ sources and oral traditions. According to this book, Brutus’s city, New Troy or Nova Troia, was the city of Trinovant to which Caesar refers. The name London was coined when it was rebuilt by one King Lud, remembered in Ludgate. This story, presumably written to elevate London by giving it both a classical and Celtic pedigree, was eagerly accepted and held sway for some 400 years. It only began to be questioned in the sixteenth century, when it was observed that the chronicler had used a misunderstanding of Caesar’s word civitas, thinking that he had referred to a city rather than the territory of the Trinovantes. Nevertheless the story still hung around: in 1805 Thomas Pennant, in his serious Some Account of London, refers to the Celtic lake city. Even today, even though scholars have long dismissed the tale of King Lud’s topless towers, you may find some version of it repeated in websites whose authors seek, as did that journalist monk, to find a fine and fancy ancestry for the City that in due course superseded Rome as the greatest city in the world.


The Romans said they founded London, and as far as we can tell at present they seem to have done so, with archaeological evidence dating it to c. AD 50. Ten or eleven years later the Old Ford witnessed a scene probably even more awesome to the locals than the advance of the legions, when the terrible, tall, tawny-haired Queen of the East Anglian Iceni, Boudicca, led her army of 100,000 men, women and children crashing through the Lea. You can see her, magnificent in a war chariot, just by Westminster Bridge.


Boudicca’s husband had left a will leaving the client kingdom of the Iceni divided between his two daughters and Emperor Nero, hoping thereby to secure inheritance for his dynasty. At his death the reverse happened; the Romans plundered his kingdom, had his widow publicly flogged and his daughters brutally raped. The queen, in revenge, raised an army and led in person the only sustained resistance against the invaders in all their time in Britain. The revolt focussed first on Camulodunum, now settled with Roman army veterans, where thousands were slaughtered and buildings were burnt to the ground. She and her troops then turned towards London; they would have taken the established route through the Lea at Old Ford. Tacitus writes in his Annals:





Suetonius [the Roman governor, who was in Anglesey suppressing the Druids] … marched amidst a hostile population to Londinium, which, though undistinguished by the name of a colony, was much frequented by a number of merchants and trading vessels. Uncertain whether he should choose it as a seat of war, as he looked round on his scanty force of soldiers, and … he resolved to save the province at the cost of a single town. Nor did the tears and weeping of the people, as they implored his aid, deter him from giving the signal of departure and receiving into his army all who would go with him. Those who were chained to the spot by the weakness of their sex, or the infirmity of age, or the attractions of the place, were cut off by the enemy.





Londoners, Romans and ‘friends of Rome’ were massacred, hanged, burned and crucified, and the new town went up in flames. Traces of charred earth in the eastern side of the City have confirmed the Roman accounts of the destruction of London, but the City rose again, and grew and flourished.


The town, although never classified as a municipium or a colonia, as were the tribal capitals at St Albans and Colchester, rapidly became the leading city of the province, a trading centre with roads radiating out from it all over the country. In the fourth century Londinium was to be awarded the honorary title of Augusta as a mark of imperial favour. It was a polyglot society in this great mercantile city, with people drawn from all over the Empire, as many as 45,000 of them at the City’s height in the second century. Gauls, Nubians, Spaniards, Greeks, Turks, Germans, along with native Romanised Britons and the Italians themselves, lived and worked among the colonnades and giant statues that proclaimed the might of Imperial Rome. For the wealthy there were fine houses with painted plaster walls and mosaic floors, elegant furniture, gardens laid out with fountains sprinkling into pools, while ordinary folk had narrow thatched ‘town houses’. The streets were lined with shops, inns and workhouses, and, down by the riverside were quays and warehouses stacked full of precious oil, wine and cloth imported from the Continent. At the ‘town centre’ (Cornhill) was a great square, dominated by a vast building housing administrative offices, the biggest basilica outside Italy. Nearby stood a palace (by Cannon Street), which may have been the governor’s residence. For recreation there were public baths and an amphitheatre where the Guildhall now stands.


The face of the ‘Home Counties’, the new boom town’s pagus or hinterland, must have been transformed; it has been argued that the area was more extensively Romanised than other parts of the country, although farming probably went on much as before. So what lay to the east? The City was enclosed by 20ft walls of Kentish ragstone, built in about AD 200; Aldgate, which guarded the Colchester Road and was to divide the City from the East End for 1,000 years, was one of the original four gates. Looking east from the gate you might have seen smoke rising from the funeral pyres of the City’s main cemetery, 50 acres in extent, in what is now Whitechapel. This vast citadel of the dead, where over 100,000 corpses are thought to have been buried, covered the area later known as Goodman’s Fields, now crossed by the Minories, Mansell Street, Leman Street and Prescot Street, and extended north of the Colchester (Mile End) Road. Other smaller burial grounds were located near today’s Liverpool Street, at Smithfield and in Southwark. All were outside the City walls, as Roman law prescribed. The eastern cemetery was divided into a series of enclosures, with a minor road running through, from west to east, a road that must have witnessed many a torch-lit procession accompanied with wailing and music as biers were trundled out from the City.


Beyond the cemetery, along the routes of the modern Mile End and Commercial Roads, lay cornfields and market gardens stretching towards the Lea. By the late Roman era most of the London area was intensively cultivated, and it is unlikely that this swathe of fertile land, adjacent to a populous city, would not have been exploited, as it was later by the nuns of the Minories, successive Bishops of London and canons of St Paul’s. The lower-lying alluvial soils near the two rivers provided meadow and grazing, and the flourishing village or town at Old Ford on the old Colchester Road may, it seems from the number of bones found there, have had a cattle market. Old Ford, which flourished until the fifth century, was one of a number of large settlements ringing London; others were at Brentford, Staines, Brockley Hill, Crayford and Ewell. Other known Roman villages farther east were at Little London, Chigwell, possibly Stratford, Romford, Upminster, Rainham, North Ockenden, Fairlop and Beckton.


Three major roads went out from the City across the Tower Hamlets triangle. The most northerly was the Staines to Colchester road, which crossed the Lea at Old Ford, probably following westwards the line of the Bethnal Green and Hackney roads, as described above. Following the line of the modern Mile End Road out of Aldgate was the slightly later straight road, which crossed the Lea at the ford. The third was a Thames-side route, running along the gravel ridge in the marshes from just east of the City Tower to Shadwell and Ratcliff; most of the modern road follows the age-old route and is known as the Highway.


The Highway started just east of the Tower of London site, where there were certainly some buildings, perhaps even a fortress; our forebears were convinced that the White Tower was built by Julius Caesar. The road led directly to Ratcliff, which was Stepney’s port in the Middle Ages, focusing on the point where today the road goes into the Limehouse Link tunnel. Below Tower Hill the riverbank was low and swampy on the north side, and at high tide the unbanked river probably flowed over large tracts of land, hence Wapping in the Wose (Wose being derived from Wash or Ouze). A bit further east the riverside was protected by a line of low bluffs, the cliffs of Ratcliff, making access to the river easier than at any other place between the City and Blackwall. In the absence of any archaeological evidence of Roman occupation of this area, historians of the East End have always assumed that the Romans must have used the Ratcliff landing place, as the road does not lead anywhere else. Recent excavations have proved their assumptions well founded, and seem to herald a seismic shift in the view of the Roman East End.


Eight years ago archaeologists discovered the remains of a huge public bath-house on the south side of the Highway at Shadwell, just near St George’s in the East. It was established that the baths had two phases of occupation, one in the second century and one in the fourth, and that they were demolished soon after 400 BC. Adjoining the baths site are the remnants of a series of clay and timber structures, possibly including an inn. To the immediate east, discovered in 1975, are the foundations of a stone tower. Originally this was thought to have been a signal tower, but the unearthing of a cremation cemetery close by suggests that it may have been a mausoleum. Nearby, on the west side of Wapping Lane, are the remains of what may have been granaries. Decorated plates from Gaul were found at these sites, with oyster shells scattered like crisp packets, stacks of beef and mutton bones, jewellery and even a leather bikini.


So 1½ miles east of the City on the riverside, about halfway along the major road which led from the City to a natural landing place, there were public buildings, a cemetery, farms and people living well. It seems there was a port complex, extending along from Shadwell to Ratcliff, dated from the first to the fourth centuries, namely practically the whole time of the Roman occupation, at its busiest in the third century. When there was a dramatic drop in the water level of the Thames between the first and third centuries the port operation may have concentrated on the eastern port, which, it seems from the dating of the bath-house, was already established. The Pool was no longer suitable for seagoing ships and the building of quays and revetments in the City stopped between AD 250 and 270. A defensive wall was built along the Thames, cutting the City off from its river.


A quarter of a mile inland from the Ratcliff landing place, lying to the north on higher ground and safe from flooding, was a pleasant wooded glade, which was to become in later years the heart of the East End, the village of Stepney. St Dunstan’s church, which stands there as it has for 1,000 years or more, has a tradition of very great antiquity, and although there is no hard evidence to prove its great age the claim is worth consideration.


No Roman finds have been made in Stepney village; indeed, nothing much has surfaced between the Bronze Age and the late Middle Ages, and the earliest documentary reference to Stepney, as Stybbanhythe, was not made until AD 1000. Common sense suggests, however, that the strong tradition of a very ancient settlement here may not be without foundation. It was an ideal spot: good for cereal cultivation, a stone’s throw from the eastern port, on higher ground, safe from the inundations of the river, lying between two Roman roads. The lack of archaeological finds may be happenstance, perhaps occasioned by extensive medieval gravel quarrying, the digging of clay for bricks or by regular flooding in the lower-lying parts.


When St Dunstan’s church was under major reconstruction in 1885 some Roman tiles were found near the south porch and arches of Roman brick in the north wall. This does not, of course, necessarily mean that a Roman temple or even a church stood on the site; all the fragments of the City’s Saxon churches that have been found show evidence of the reuse of Roman building materials, and there are Roman traces in thirty-five Essex churches. For many years after the collapse of imperial rule in these islands there must have been huge quantities of bricks and tiles lying around, the remains of long-ruined villas and abandoned public buildings, ready for medieval masons to use when they set about building churches.


Nevertheless there is much to be said for the continuity of religious sites, and it is quite possible that Stepney church is, as has been claimed, one of the oldest Christian places of worship in Britain. Followers of the expanding ‘Jesus cult’ started arriving on these shores in the late third century, some no doubt landing at Londinium or even Ratcliff. Like the Druids they were regarded by the imperial authorities as a threat and were persecuted, until the Emperor Constantine, perhaps with an eye to the main chance, took the first steps towards establishing Christianity as the religion of the Empire in 313. The British Church was organised enough to send three bishops to the Christian Council held at Arles in the year following the initial edict of toleration.


Hardly any archaeological evidence has been found concerning Romano-British churches, but there must have been places of worship for what was now the official cult. Sir Montagu Sharpe, who made a study of Roman Middlesex a hundred years ago, produced an intriguing theory that seeks to prove the Roman origins of a number of churches in Middlesex and Essex. Using the alignment of traces of ancient roads he argues that London’s canton was divided up by imperial surveyors into a number of equal size squares, making up rectangular subdivisions called centurias. This vast chequerboard of settlement plots was then, presumably, allocated to individuals. Where estates converged, or at village crossroads, were, he surmises, public ‘chapels’ or compita where ploughmen and millers, herdsmen and their families went to appease their gods with sacrifices and to celebrate the coming of spring and the joyous harvest. These deities would have been the strange Romano-British conflation of the Olympian cast, which the Italians had brought with them, and home-grown spirits, like Sulis of wells and streams (Minerva) and Taranis the wheel god (Jupiter). Stepney church was, Sharpe claims, the site of one such compita, later adopted, as many were, by the Christians.


There yet remains to be found concrete evidence about any shrine, temple or Romano-British church in Stepney village. Sharpe’s ‘chequerboard’ is rather far-fetched, but as we have seen the archaeological story of the East End is unfolding dramatically. Within a few decades perhaps finds will be made to confirm the opinion of the parish clerk who headed the 1748 vestry minute book ‘The most ancient parish of Stepney’.


At all events Roman Tower Hamlets was a busy place, a patchwork of fields, gardens and meadows, crossed by main roads, and well watered by two large rivers and numerous springs and pools. Probably the air hummed with the clack of watermills, which were such a vital feature of this watery place in medieval times; they are said to have been introduced into the province by an early Roman governor. There were granaries stocked with corn in Wapping, ships riding on the river, warehouses and quays along the riverside, a thriving social and commercial centre at Ratcliff, cattle driven along the lanes to the market at Old Ford. Even the swampy peninsula later known as Stepney Marsh and then the Isle of Dogs (Dykes) may have been drained, providing the lush pastures for which it would become famous. Roman tiles were used when the chapel of St Mary in the Marsh was built there in the early Middle Ages, brought from the ruins of some nearby villa, perhaps.


In the early decades of the fourth century, after 350 years, the Roman administration collapsed, apparently quite suddenly, and England became England, the ‘land of the Angles’, barbarians from Denmark. German and Danish warrior bands had started raiding these islands in the early third century, and by the fourth the situation was severe enough to warrant the appointment of a general to guard the ‘Saxon Shore’. London’s defences were overhauled, bastions put on the east side and a riverside wall built. In 406–7 the Germans invaded Gaul and Britain was cut off from the empire. There followed a rapid economic collapse, and Roman government was withdrawn from Britain between 406 and 410. According to Gildas, a sixth-century Romanised Welsh monk, ‘They [the inhabitants] took to looting from each other, since there was only a very small stock of food to give nourishment to the desperate people; and the calamities from abroad were made worse by internal conflict, and consequently, the whole area became almost devoid of food, except for what hunters could find.’


The last literary appearance of London as a Roman city is dated 457, when, according to the Anglo-Saxon Chronicle, Britons took refuge behind its walls, fleeing from their crushing defeat at Crayford at the hands of the probably legendary Hengist, the Jutish ‘stallion’. What happened to London and its environs thenceforth is hotly debated, as is the nature of the Saxon invasion and settlement in general. The only near contemporary account is the apocalyptic Ruin of Britain, written by Gildas a hundred years later and based, on his own admission, on hearsay. His was a Christian polemic, deploring the pagan invaders and presenting the cataclysm as punishment for the sins of the land-grabbing and debauched Romano-British:





Lamentable to behold, in the midst of the streets lay the tops of lofty towers, tumbled to the ground, stones of high walls, holy altars, fragments of human bodies, covered with livid clots of coagulated blood, looking as if they had been squeezed together in a press; and with no chance of being buried, save in the ruins of the houses, or in the ravening bellies of wild beasts and birds.





All that is certain is that Roman buildings fell into decay and that ‘lowland’ Britain was taken over by pagan Saxon rulers during the course of the following 200 years, with some survival of British culture and Christianity in the Celtic fringes. Petty kings established themselves, Old English replaced the existing language and Romano-Celtic place-names, apart from that of London itself and that of some rivers, were wiped from the face of England. Augusta the magnificent was either abandoned, or became what Sir Mortimer Wheeler described as a ‘sub-Roman slum’. The Saxons were not city dwellers and, apparently from superstitious fear of the haunted Roman ruins, they created their new villages, or adopted old ones, outside the City, alongside riverbanks. Early settlements and cemeteries have been found to the west and south of London, with nothing nearer to the City than 4 miles, at Hanwell, Hammersmith, Ham, Greenwich, Brentford and Mitcham, and at Rainham and Enfield in Essex.


Saxons: Blida, Stibba, Waeppa and the Knights’ Guild


By the early seventh century a new Saxon London had emerged, an important trading centre, until c. 604 under the sway of the East Saxon monarchs, then ruled by the Kentish kings and taken over by the Mercian dynasty in the 730s. Archaeological evidence indicates that this Lundewic was centred outside the old Roman walls, round the area later known as the old market, the Aldwych, with its port located along the riverside parallel to where the Strand is now. But there is reason to think that the seat of government was within the walls, and that the old Roman fort, still standing secure among the ruins on the western hill, was a royal headquarters.


As to what happened to the east of the City, in the absence of any serious scholarly attention or archaeological evidence, commonsense and guesswork must prevail. We know that the eastern cemetery was abandoned in the fifth century, the baths at Shadwell were demolished – and there does not seem to have been much sign of life at Old Ford. When the Saxons came sailing up the Thames and the Lea they would have found an undefended outpost of the City in the Tower Hamlets triangle. Sir Hubert Llewellyn-Smith, east London’s first modern historian, surmised that the East Saxons arrived in our area in the last half of the sixth century, making their first permanent settlement at Stepney (Stybbanhythe) on the high ground just above Ratcliff, where there was a good haven (or hythe) at which Stybba’s band could land. Perhaps they sailed up the Black Ditch, the brook that flowed from Spitalfields and emptied into the Thames at Limehouse Dock.


The place-names around are Saxon in origin and bespeak the settling of the area with small autonomous groups; whether they came as raiding parties or as peaceful wanderers we shall probably never know. Thus Blida came with his clan and gave his name to Bethnal Green, Hacca to Hackney, Deorlof to Dalston. It used to be thought that Wapping (Waeppingas) was the place where Waeppa’s extended family made their village; the ingas element is a possessive, as in the Gillingas of Ealing, the Berecingas of Barking and the Gumeningas of Harrow. Today a more likely derivation is thought to be from Walpol, meaning a marsh. The bank of brambles rising from the Lea they called Bramlege (Bromley), and the name of the old Roman port was lost, replaced by ‘red cliff’ (Ratcliff), because of the colour of the sandy gravel that was exposed there. They named the fields and wells and streams: Shadwell, the shallow well, Shacklewell, Snecockswell, Copatswell and Schadfliet.


Sir Mortimer Wheeler’s thesis that Grim’s Dyke and other earthworks around London marked a Romano-British enclave in the south-east might make the date of the Saxon settlements in Tower Hamlets of a later date than Llewellyn-Smith suggested. But we are sailing through uncharted waters in the fifth and sixth centuries, with only Gildas for company, and it is not until the opening years of the following century that there is some slight clearing of the mists. Bede’s Ecclesiastical History, written in the early eighth century, gives us the first substantial clue about the origins of Stepney as an episcopal manor.


Using reliable Vatican and Kentish sources, Bede says that in 604, following the successful Christian mission of Augustine to the King of Kent, a cathedral, St Paul’s, was built; it is thought to have been approximately on its present site. Ethelbert, the king, assigned lands for the sustenance of the diocese around London and in Essex. The foundation endowment may have included Stepney:





In the year of our Lord 604, Augustine, archbishop of Britain, ordained two bishops, viz. Mellitus and Justus; Mellitus to preach to the province of the East-Saxons, who are divided from Kent by the river Thames, and border on the Eastern sea. Their metropolis is the City of London, which is situated on the banks of the aforesaid river, and is the mart of many nations resorting to it by sea and land. At that time, Sabert, nephew to Ethelbert by his sister Ricula, reigned over the nation, though he was under subjection to Ethelbert, who, as has been said above, had command over all the nations of the English as far as the river Humber. But when this province also received the word of truth, by the preaching of Mellitus, King Ethelbert built the church of St. Paul, in the City of London, where he and his successors should have their episcopal see … he also bestowed many gifts on the bishops [of London and Rochester] … and added both lands and possessions for the maintenance of those who were with the bishops.





Although the Stepney estate is not mentioned by name until 400 years later, in a list of cathedral properties, the medieval canons believed that Stepney, the Bishop of London’s own manor, was part of the grant made by Ethelbert to the Church. The cathedral was endowed with a wide belt of land, encircling the City on the north and east, 24 hides in Moorfields, St Pancras and modern Camden and 55 in Stepney with Hackney and Clerkenwell. This area of about 7,600 acres (including Tillingham in Essex) was to be used to supply food for the teams of clergy and an income for the running of the diocese, which was, according to Bede, coterminous with the kingdom of the East Saxons. Thus, if the canons were right, began the long rule of the Church in east London, which only ended when Stepney manor was handed over to Sir Thomas Wentworth in 1550, with all its appurtenances: Shoreditch, Holywell Street, Cleve Street, Brook Street, Whitechapel, Poplar, North Street, Stratford atte Bow, Ratcliff, Limehouse, Mile End, Bethnal Green, Old Ford, and all Hackney.


It was not a continuous thread, however. Only twelve years after the creation of the bishopric Ethelbert and Sebert both died, and the common folk who had adopted Christianity at their behest lapsed into paganism. In spite of Mellitus’s best efforts Woden, the mighty sky god, Freya, the mother goddess, Tiw, the protector of warriors, and the rest came back into play, and it was not until Bishop Erkenwald (675–93) appeared on the scene that London’s Church was set to rights again. What happened to the Stepney estates and the rest of the diocesan endowments is anybody’s guess.


By the mid- to late seventh century the Christian Church was firmly established; its Continental missionaries brought back to rough and roaring England literacy and learning, culture and sophistication, the art of building with stone, the true legacy of the imperial Roman civilisation. St Aldhelm, Abbot of Malmesbury, wrote in the 680s, ‘Where once the crude pillars of the … foul snake and the stag were worshipped with coarse stupidity in profane shrines, in their place dwellings for students, not to mention holy houses of prayer, are constructed skilfully by the talent of the architect.’ Minsters peppered the land. These were largely royal and aristocratic foundations, churches-cum-monasteries, with accommodation for resident priests, some secular, some monks and nuns, with chapels for prayer, baptistries, cemeteries for the burial of the holy dead and farms for the sustenance of the workforce. Many later became mother or parish churches. Tradition puts the foundation of Stepney church in this period; what would become the mother church of a huge parish on the east of the City may well have started life as an outpost of St Paul’s, lying as it did halfway between the cathedral and Barking Abbey, founded by Erkenwald in 666.


We can picture this early Stepney, a cluster of thatched huts (like those at the recreated Anglo-Saxon village at West Stow) with a little wattle church in their midst, dedicated, as many Saxon churches were, to All Saints, standing perhaps where St Dunstan’s still stands, with cattle in enclosures and pigs rooting for acorns and beechmast. A little to the north ran the old Roman road to Colchester, overgrown, no doubt, but probably still in use. North of the road was Blida’s village (Bethnal Green) on the borders of the dense woodland, a hunting ground for deer and wild boar. A short walk to the south took the villagers down a track, later given the name of Cleve (Cliff) Street, to the river, rich in salmon and eels. To the south-east snipe and curlew wheeled over reeds and irises in the great marshy peninsula that would become the Isle of Dogs.


Little is known about the organisation of government in these times, when London was an important port but not yet a capital city, and kingdoms came and went. The rich paraphernalia found recently near Southend, in the tomb of a Christian warrior king known to archaeology as the Prince of Prittlewell, is a reminder that this was no mud hut society. London came under the sway of different ruling houses and its hinterland was known as Middlesex, a no-man’s land that lay between the territories of the East and West Saxons. The earliest reference to ‘the province called Middelseaxan’ is in a 704 grant to the Bishop of London of lands at Twickenham. This was made by Swaefred, sub-king of the East Saxons, under Mercian rule. Church councils are known to have met at Chelsea, Brentford and in London itself. Little hard evidence has surfaced of any activity, ecclesiastical or otherwise, in eastern Middlesex; although, as we have noted, Bishop Erkenwald founded a house of nuns for his sister on the other side of the Lea, at Barking in Essex. Only a handful of seventh-century charters survive, mainly recording grants of lands to monasteries and churches by Mercian kings, but none relate to our area.


Possibly the Bishops of London from the seventh to tenth centuries were lords of the estate known as Stibbanhythe; they may even have lived at Bethnal Green as their successors did. These lordly priests, Erkenwald’s successors, the ‘bishops of the East Saxons’, are little more to us than names: Waldhere (693) Ingwald, Ecwulf, Wigheah, Eadbert, Eadgar, Coenwalh, Eadbald, Heathobert, Osmund, Aethelnoth, Ceolberht, Deorwulf, Swithwulf, Heahstan, Wulfsige, Aethelweard, Leofstan, Theodred and Brihthelm (d. 957). They appear in the scanty records witnessing charters, attending councils, receiving the odd grant of land. Only for the saintly Theodred is there a little more, notably a will, but no specific mention is made of Stepney; although fifty years after his death the estate certainly belonged to St Paul’s. As landlords of the Anglo-Saxon East Enders, the bishops would have taken rents and services from the farmers and millers who presumably supplied grain for the people of London, as their descendants would for generation upon generation. It is not until the appointment of the great Dunstan as bishop in 957, however, that the mists hanging over the eastern fields and marshes begin to clear a little more.


But before that came the terrible Viking raids that ravaged the country from the late eighth century and culminated in about half the country being assigned as Danelaw. These fierce Norsemen, it was said, never wept for their sins or the death of their friends, and cooked victory feasts in cauldrons placed on top of the corpses of their enemies. There is an old tale that links Stepney with the Viking attacks. It is unlikely to be based in fact – but as it is so unlikely you never know! White Horse Street, which runs from the Mile End Road to Stepney church, and originally went right down to the river, along the line of what is now Butcher Row, has been known by that name for about 400 years. They say that the body of a Kentish warrior, slaughtered by the Danes, was brought along the river to be buried in the hallowed ground by the little Saxon church of All Saints. In commemoration there was erected nearby the emblem of a white horse, the well-known badge of Kent.


The inhabitants of Lundenwic, and doubtless those living in the eastern villages named after the old Saxon bandits, together with the farmers from the marsh islands of Thorney, Chelsea, Bermondsey and Battersea, moved into the ancient ruins of the Roman metropolis, abandoned so long ago, and took shelter behind its high stone walls. London was repeatedly attacked, and was occupied from 871/2 until 886, when it was recovered by Alfred the Great. The eastern approaches were extremely vulnerable over this period; Stepney was only a few miles from the easily fordable river Lea, which was the boundary with the Danelaw set by treaty in 878. Raiding still went on after 878, and in 895 a flotilla of Danish ships poured up the Thames and the Lea. The following summer, in the fields near the City says the chronicler, Alfred’s army had to guard the harvesters as they reaped the corn. Like many other churches and monasteries, Barking Abbey had been destroyed (in 870); the lands stretching east from the City walls towards the Danish boundary at the Lea were a war zone, and we can surmise that the Tower Hamlets triangle was laid waste, with the little All Saints’ church and the dwellings it serviced being burnt to the ground.


In 886, according to the Anglo-Saxon Chronicle, ‘gesette Alfred Lundenburh and gave the burh to Aethered the ealdorman to hold’. Archaeological evidence indicates that London was indeed rebuilt at this time, but some historians, notably Sir Hubert Llewellyn-Smith and W.R. Lethaby, have interpreted the words of the Chronicle as meaning that Alfred established a military colony to garrison the citadel of London, to occupy what later became Tower Hill and to protect the eastern approaches to the City. Herein Lethaby sees the origins of the strange Knights Gild or Cnihtengild, of which more anon.


Under Alfred’s grandson Aethelstan, England came under one rule, and the reign of his great grandson, Edgar the Peaceable (957–75), is often referred to as a ‘golden age’. It was during this time of religious reform and a respite from Viking onslaughts that Stepney church was apparently rebuilt. According to an oft-repeated story, it was in the year 952, in the reign of Edgar’s predecessor, Eadred, that St Dunstan refounded the ancient All Saints’ church, which after his canonisation in 1029 adopted a new dedication. Although the origins of this tradition are lost, it makes sense.


The tenth century was the great era of church-building, with large minsters replaced by the one church, one priest, one village system. Unlike continental Europe, where churches of this era were mainly episcopal foundations, English churches were mainly built by thegns and attached to their estates as an insurance policy for a place in heaven or to acquire local kudos. Dunstan, however, is known to have founded a number when he was Archbishop of Canterbury (959–88), notably at Mayfield in Sussex, ‘as also in the other places of his hospices’.


In the year 952 Dunstan, a scion of the royal house of Wessex, a saintly, charismatic man and Abbot of Glastonbury, was chief adviser to King Eadred. In 955 he was sent into exile for questioning the marriage of the new sixteen-year-old king, Eadred, but was recalled two years later by his successor, and became the leading royal counsellor. He was made Bishop of London and of Worcester, and was then raised to be Archbishop of Canterbury. For nearly thirty years he was probably the greatest man in the country, more influential and longer in power than Becket or Wolsey. As elder statesman to a number of very young monarchs he dominated the political scene, reviving the almost extinct monastic life, securing the election of Edward the Confessor and devising a coronation service, part of which is still used today. It is quite reasonable to suppose that as Bishop of London Dunstan refounded a church in what became his vill, the old church having, perhaps, fallen prey to the Vikings. It has been suggested that he might also have been responsible for the foundation of Bromley Abbey, although this is disputed.


It is in Dunstan’s day, during the relatively peaceful reign of King Edgar (959–75), that the legend of the Knights’ Guild, with its fairytale jousting competition, is set. It concerns the Portsoken, and according to John Stow, who probably had it from the cartulary of Holy Trinity Priory (which took over its jurisdiction in 1125), the folk living here in the tenth century had left it ‘because of too much servitude’. No one seems to know exactly what this means, but at all events the beleaguered area of wasteland adjoining the City, perhaps the haunt of thugs, was put under the special charge of a band of young men, known as the Knighten Guild or the Anglissh Knightgelda, as it appears in the City records. Such guilds seem to have existed in Canterbury and Winchester, but they remain something of a mystery. The term ‘cniht’ was not used in the Anglo-Saxon period, as the equivalent of a knight in the age of chivalry; it meant either a lad or an attendant or servant. It has been surmised that the Knights’ Guild may have been either an association of thegns’ sons who had not yet come into their estates, or of the personal attendants of various lords. W.R. Lethaby saw it as a military garrison dating from Alfred’s day, when London was under attack from Vikings, although there does not seem to be any real evidence for its existence pre-Edgar.


Whatever the origins or function of this guild, whether it was a ‘police force’ or just a way of rewarding men for military service with a grant of land that no one else would touch, it remained the effective ruling body for the western strip of the Tower Hamlets for something in the region of 150 years, with its charter renewed in turn by Edward the Confessor, William Rufus and Henry I.


The Danish wars broke out again after the death of St Dunstan in 988, and the laws of Aethelred the Unready advised: ‘It is a wise precaution to have warships ready every year soon after Easter.’ Appropriately for a parish that was to become the heart of the seafaring end of town, its church was known as ‘the church of the high seas’, the earliest known mention of Stepney by name (as Stybbanhythe) being in a list of ‘scipmen’ required for manning a ship, dated AD 1000. Warships of this date needed sixty sailors, and this document lists the king’s requirements from the places that belonged to St Paul’s Cathedral and the bishop, there being no distinction made yet between episcopal lands and those belonging to the canons. A note is made of the number of men each estate is to supply for the navy: the total is fifty-eight, with Stepney and Islington (Gislandune) assigned to produce two.


It is nearly 1,000 years since the Romano-British East Enders loaded their ships at Shadwell and herded their cattle to market at Old Ford. At last the records give us a name for somewhere in the East End, Stibba’s Haven, the village that will become over the next 1,000 years Stibbenhede, Stebenee, Stepney; the place at the heart of it all. The Saxon East End is a shadowy place, with only hints and legends allowing a very partial picture of the great episcopal estate that lay east of Lundenburgh. From these Dark Ages, however, there survives in situ one very concrete reminder of the ancient past. Set into the east wall of Stepney church is a stone rood, a panel measuring 3ft 2in high by 2ft 3in across, with the crucifixion in relief and the ‘human’ figures of the sun and moon veiling their eyes in grief. It is much weathered, having hung for many centuries outside the south porch. Expert opinion agrees that it is certainly pre-thirteenth century, and the likelihood is that it dates from the eleventh.




Chapter 2


THE TOWER AND ITS HAMLETS


1066–1200


The Norman Conquest and Domesday


The Norman invasion brought the Tower to the Tower Hamlets; in due course the post of Constable of the Tower would become combined with that of Lord Lieutenant for the hamlets. With the Conqueror’s Domesday survey of 1086 comes the first contemporary account of the East End. The precious statistics illuminate the dim and distant ploughlands and meadows, naming the great landowners and counting the peasant labourers; describing the land manor by manor, both as it was at the time of the Conquest and twenty years later. ‘Not one ox nor one cow nor one pig which was there was left out,’ wrote the chronicler, with some exaggeration.


When the brutal Normans, themselves of Viking descent, took the prize of England, sixty-six years had passed since the first mention of Stepney in the records, the list of sailors required to fight off the Danes. Since then there had been a Danish king, the powerful and wise Canute, ruling for nearly twenty years, and now the throne was back with the West Saxon line. London had been the headquarters for the defence of the realm against attack and the largest conurbation by far. Although the idea of a capital city was not yet established in western Europe and the centre of government moved around with the court, London, with its large population and its extensive trading connections, was the leading town and crucial for William’s conquest. It stood almost entirely within the Roman walls, with the vill of Westminster and its church of St Peter a little to the west. To the immediate east was the strip of land guarded by the City’s Knights’ Guild; it included what is now Houndsditch and the Minories and the open ground at East Smithfield (on the east side of Tower Hill) where a great watermill whirred and clattered, the biggest in the country, grinding corn for the City’s bread. The villages and hamlets between the walls and the Lea, Wapping, Stepney, Bethnal Green, Shadwell, Bromley, with Hackney and Dalston to the north, lay undefended, and we can only guess how they fared in that terrible autumn and winter of 1066 when William the Bastard and his army, having defeated the Saxons at Hastings, wrought devastation in Middlesex and Surrey. Both the surviving accounts of his campaign and Domesday evidence suggest that the eastern villages suffered appreciably less than the rest of London’s hinterland.


Accounts vary slightly, but it seems clear that after Hastings William, having gained the submission of the other chief city, Winchester, ‘directed his march to where populous London gleamed’. His army burned its southern suburbs and turned west, crossing the river at Wallingford and making for Berkhamsted, where, according to one version of events, William took the surrender of Archbishop Ealdred, Edgar the Ætheling, the Earls Edwin and Morcar, and ‘all the best men from London’ and was offered the Crown. The Normans finally came down into London through Hackney and Clerkenwell, slaughtering and burning as they came. Siege engines may even have been brought up to the City walls. At all events, the terrified Londoners offered their surrender at some point.


The Tower Hamlets triangle, then, seems to have escaped the worst ravages of the invader. Domesday records that in Stepney manor, a great block of land of some 7,000 acres flanking the City on the east and encompassing lands to the north as far as today’s Muswell Hill, the overall loss in value between 1066 and 1086 was 23 per cent. Although it is not possible to identify all the individual estates within the manor, it does seem to have been the case that the greatest depreciation was in the Fafiton lands at Kingsland and the Brian lands in Clerkenwell, both of which were probably on William’s route to London from Berkhamsted.


After being crowned at Westminster William went to Barking Abbey, presumably marching along the Colchester (Mile End) road through the East End, while fortifications were undertaken in London to contain what the chronicler describes as ‘the restlessness of its vast and savage population’. According to the king’s biographer, William of Poitiers, the Conqueror sent an advance guard to London to construct a fortress in preparation for a triumphal entry into the City; the first reference to the Tower of London. Whatever the details of the chronology, archaeological evidence confirms that these early defences used the Roman wall in the south-east corner of the City, and that East London’s great royal castle, the White Tower, was under construction on this site by the 1070s and completed by 1100. It was built of limestone brought from Caen, protected by the old walls on two sides with wide ditches to the north and west, a massive structure dominating the skyline, a reminder to the ‘restless’ Londoner, the Wapping miller, the Stepney ploughman, the shopkeeper up at Aldgate Street, of the military force of the Frenchmen who were now their masters.


Not, one imagines, that they would have needed reminding. Thousands had been slaughtered, and in the upper echelons of society the process of Normanisation was complete. The court spoke French, children were given Norman names, men were brought over from the Continent to take the top jobs in the Church and, perhaps most immediate of all, there was a revolution in landholding. The 5,000 men who came over with William were well rewarded; of the 180 or so tenants-in-chief with large estates in Domesday only two were Englishmen; of the 1,400 lesser tenants-in-chief about 100 were English; among the 6,000 sub-tenants there were more English. As to the villagers and cottagers, the smallholders, craftsmen, labourers and their like, although they are not named, they were probably to a man of old English stock.


In Stepney manor, although a virtual clean sweep was made of the tenants, the man at the top remained the same. He was the Bishop of London, one William, a Norman and a favourite of King Edward the Confessor’s; he had been bishop since 1051, and continued in post and in charge of Stepney until his death in 1075.


In black gall ink, on sheep’s skin, written with a sharpened goose quill 923 years ago, is the undoubted evidence that Stepney was held by the Bishop of London. The entry in Great Domesday sets the estate in the Hundred of Ossultone. Under the Saxon kings the shires (formed in the late tenth century) had been divided up into hundreds, notionally containing about a hundred families, or ten tithings; there were six in Middlesex. Ossultone’s name was derived from Oswulf’s stone, which marked the meeting place of the hundred court, somewhere near Park Lane. The bishop’s manor of Stepney encompassed the later parish of Stepney (including Whitechapel, Wapping, Shadwell, Ratcliffe, Bethnal Green, Bromley, Old Ford, Poplar, Limehouse, Stratford, Mile End and the Isle of Dogs), Hackney, part of Shoreditch, Clerkenwell, Islington and Barnsbury, covering some 7,000 acres. In 1066 the only lay tenants were Alwin Stichbare (‘King Edward’s man’), two mill-owners and Earl Godwin, the father of King Harold, killed at Hastings.


Before we attempt to interpret what Domesday tells us about Stepney (there is no Domesday for London; Stow says there was but it was lost), we will look at the wider picture. Nearly 200 years of raids and unremitting war had drawn the country into close-knit units, a strong monarchy at the head, with a handful of tremendously powerful families, underpinned by a thegnly class. Tenant farmers, villeins, the yeomen of England, some of them with farms as big as 100 acres, and below them peasants and slaves, bought and sold like cattle, were defended by the military might of these landlords, to whom they were tied by obligations and taxes. No man could be without a lord, said King Athelstan’s law code of 930. For many thousands of Englishmen their ‘lord’ was an abbey, a cathedral or a bishop. About half the land in the tiny county of Middlesex (only 278 square miles, as opposed to 1,524 in Essex) belonged to the Church, to the Archbishop of Canterbury, the Bishop of London, the canons of St Paul’s, and the Abbot of Westminster.


Although the Conquest saw much looting of Church treasures and destruction of ecclesiastical buildings, the ancient Church estates by and large remained intact. Thus in the great confiscation, although Bishop William lost about 1,200 acres of his Stepney demesne lands (lands devoted to the lord’s profit) to three Norman tenants, he was compensated with an important castle at Bishops Stortford. The canons lost their Barnsbury land, but were compensated with gains in Essex.


The land was measured in hides (a sort of rateable value, the equivalent of about 120 acres in Middlesex), arable land in numbers of ploughteams, and woodland in terms of the number of pigs that could be fed from acorns and beechmast. In post-Conquest Middlesex the largest estate described in Domesday is that given under the heading Terra Episcopi Lundon et Canonicorum, the lands of the Bishop of London and the canons of the cathedral chapter at St Paul’s, with a total assessment of 162 hides, 1 virgate. Of this 40 hides was the Fulham estate and 32 was Stepney.


Although place-name evidence suggests that there were villages, hamlets or farmsteads at Wapping, Bromley and Bethnal Green, and there were enough people living in the Marsh (the Isle of Dogs) to warrant a chapel there within fifty or so years of the survey, Stepney is the only east London place named in Domesday. It is the only east London place-name to appear in any government records until the twelfth century. The bishop’s manor was a large and valuable holding, worth £48, only a drop of £2 since 1066.


Two lay Norman tenants-in-chief held land in Stepney directly from the king, although the bishop laid claim to both of these manors. The two takeovers are thought to have been respectively at Bromley, where Robert son of Roscelin held 3½ hides, which had in the Confessor’s day belonged to one Alwin Stichehare, ‘King Edward’s man’, and in Kingsland, where Robert Fafiton was in possession of 4 hides that had belonged to a Saxon canon of St Paul’s called Sired, the father of Ailward, prebendary of Stoke Newington. Fafiton, who was a minor landholder, with small estates in four counties, also had 53 acres that had been seized by Hugh de Berners (one of the bishop’s tenants) from the canons of St Paul’s.


The bishop had ten sub-tenants in 1086, and of them only two had been there at the Conquest. The only tenant who was a significant figure was Ranulf Flambard. He held 3½ hides that had belonged to Earl Godwin, father of King Harold, now under the bishop’s overlordship. Flambard was to become one of the leading men of the realm, Bishop of Durham and then chief minister to William Rufus. He had been attached to the household of Maurice, Archdeacon of le Mans, then the royal chancellor and, in 1086, created Bishop of London. The Stepney lands may have been a gift from Maurice.


One Hugh de Berners, who also had small manors in Essex and Cambridgeshire, had an estate of 5 hides, 1 virgate and a mill. The 5 hides had formerly belonged to the canons of St Paul’s and were partly located, as their names suggest, in Canonbury and Barnsbury. Half of the canons’ land had been the personal property of Canon Sired, who had held some of the Fafiton lands.


From our point of view Berners’ industrial acquisition in Stepney is most interesting. The most valuable watermill in the country, and perhaps the largest, was his, with 30 acres of land attached to it. There is a fair chance that this was on the site of the famous twin watermills on the Thames, later known as Crassh Mills (see plan), near the Wapping Swans Nest Hermitage and St Katharine’s. The lane leading to it was once called Toddyneslane (before it became Nightingale or Cnihtengild Lane and then Thomas More Street). The lane ran by a pond called Dodding’s, according to John Stow, and according to Domesday the pre-Conquest mill-owner, paying rent to the bishop, was one Doding. In 1362 a Burners descendant of Hugh held two mills on the St Katharine’s site and in 1375, according to the will of Sir Nicholas Loveyn, there were two mills hereabouts, ‘les Molynes appellez Eastmills’ and Crassh Mills.


A Norman lady, referred to in the Domesday text only as ‘the wife of Brian’, had 5 hides, taken from the bishops’ demesne, part of which lay in Clerkenwell, and later granted to the priory of St Mary, Clerkenwell and the Knights Hospitallers. It is possible that she was the wife of Count Brian, son of Eude, Count of Brittany; Brian had led the suppression of the invasion of Harold’s sons from Ireland in 1069.


Another portion of the bishop’s demesne was assigned to William de Vere of the great de Vere clan, from which were descended the Earls of Oxford. This was 1 hide, which may have been in Hackney or possibly the Isle of Dogs. Two other portions of the bishop’s demesne were given to members of the royal household. King William’s personal physician and chaplain, Gilbert Maminot, Bishop of Lisieux, ‘very learned but not very spiritual’, had 1½ hides; he was well rewarded with small fiefs of the king in six counties and under-tenancies in others. William the Chamberlain, who also had various other manors in different parts of the country, held 1 hide, 3 virgates in Stepney, possibly the manor of Topsfield in Hornsey. In addition Alvric Chacepul had 1 hide, formerly the bishop’s demesne, but no plough, and Canon Edmund fitz Algot had a large, newly constructed mill on the Lea at Old Ford.


The two survivors of the great confiscation were Alwin, the son of Brihtmar, who kept on the 20s mill that he had in 1066, and Canon Englebric, a major landholder and chancellor of the Diocese of London, whose small estate, probably at Shadwell, may have been a prebend (canon’s personal estate), as Domesday says that he was not allowed to sell it.


The bishop’s own demesne was in 1086 only 14 hides (1,680 acres); it had been 24 hides in 1066. There were only three plough teams, compared with twenty-two belonging to the husbandmen; this may indicate that not much demesne farming went on (by the mid-fourteenth century it had stopped altogether), or it may merely be a reflection of the fact that much of the demesne was wooded, as it continued to be for hundreds of years, with Victoria Park as a modern reminder. The bishop’s own arable land lay between Bethnal Green and Shoreditch, extending down to the Whitechapel Road.


The people of eleventh-century Stepney were disposed among the scattered villages, farms, cottages and inns that may have gathered outside the City’s eastern gates. The population of London, although there is no Domesday entry to guide us, is thought to have been about 10,000 at this time, and the total number of people living in England possibly something in the region of 2 million. In rural Middlesex there were perhaps 2,000, of which between 800 and 900 were in Stepney manor. Presumably the bishop spent some time at his manor house (it was certainly there by 1169), as bishops would for several hundred years, and Roger, the sheriff of Middlesex, may have lived on the 60-acre estate in Clerkenwell that he rented from the wife of Brian. There is no way of knowing how many of the new Norman masters lived in the area, whether the men who ran the estates as stewards or bailiffs were countrymen of theirs, or whether there was any significant immigrant presence. There are no ‘Frenchmen’ listed in the Domesday Book for Stepney, as there are in some manors.


Most families were those of villeins or villagers, the highest class of dependent peasantry; on the bishop’s estate there were sixty-one men of this category of which most (forty-four) had 30 acres of farmland. Seven of them had much larger holdings of 65 acres and nine had smaller ones of 15 acres. They would have owed labour services to the lord, although it is possible that cash rents were already being paid in lieu; the process of commutation in Stepney was well in advance of other places, being complete on the episcopal manor by the mid-fourteenth century. On the wife of Brian’s estate two of the villeins paid cash rent for their houses; at 8s and 4s a year respectively they must have been substantial properties.


An extract from a management text in a volume of Anglo-Saxon law gives some indication of what was expected of villeins in terms of work and dues:





The gebur’s [villein’s] duties vary; in some places they are heavy, in other moderate. On some estates it is such that he must perform such work as he is told for two weekdays each week throughout the year, and three weekdays at harvest time, and three from Candlemas to Easter; if he performs cartage he need not work while his horse is out. At Michaelmas he must pay 10d tax, and at Martinmas twenty-three sesters of barley and two hens: at Easter one young sheep or twopence. And from the time when they first plough until Martinmas he must plough one acre [of his lord’s land] each week and prepare the seed in the lord’s barn himself … When death befalls him, his lord is to take charge of what he leaves.





Forty-six cottars or cottagers (the next rank down) shared 120 acres between them, paying 30s to the bishop. From the size of the rent and the proximity to London it has been deduced that these men were possibly craftsmen, artisans, shopkeepers or market gardeners from the urbanised areas of ribbon development outside the City in Alegate Street (Whitechapel) of Haliwell Street (Shoreditch), both of which lay partly in the manor. The wife of Brian’s fifteen bordars (similar to cottars) paid 9s for their 10 acres and may have also been of this order.


William of Poitiers described England as the ‘granary of Ceres’, and the rich lands to the east of London were, like most of south-east England, predominantly arable, with good meadows, rich pastures over towards the Lea and woodland, which provided timber to spare and food for 750 pigs, with deer and wild bulls for the chase. Wheat, oats and barley were the main crops, grown in vast fields, much larger than any today. The heavy ploughs, drawn by a team of eight oxen, were cumbersome and difficult to turn, so the land was divided into long strips, about 22yds wide, each of which was reckoned as a separate unit.


‘On the north [of London],’ wrote William FitzStephen, some hundred years after Domesday, ‘are pasture lands and a pleasant space of flat meadow, intersected by running waters, which turn revolving mill-wheels with a merry din.’ Windmills were not introduced until the twelfth century and the countryside murmured with the sound of waterwheels; 3,500 mills are mentioned in Domesday and there were probably many more. The Stepney mills, or some of them, presumably ground grain for London’s bread, as the mills at Stratford and Old Ford would for years to come. There were seven mills in all: four small ones on the bishop’s demesne, worth only £4 16s 4d a piece; the great Doding/Berners mill at East Smithfield/Wapping, worth 66s 8d; a newly constructed mill at Old Ford, held by a canon of St Paul’s, Edmund FitzAlgot, (later a fullers’ mill called Allgodsmill), worth 33s 6d; and another, worth 20s and with no land attached, still in the hands of its old English tenant, Alwin son of Brihtmare. Both Crassh Mills and Algot’s mill would pass in the fourteenth century to St Mary Graces, the abbey on Tower Hill.


The millers at Dodings and Old Ford grew dusty at their toil, as all England groaned under the Norman Yoke. Rebellions in the west, east and north were quashed with increasing ferocity and castles rose everywhere. There were three in London alone, on the eastern side: the White Tower, Montfichet, to the south-west of St Paul’s, and Baynards, south of Ludgate. Our villagers went on as usual through seedtime and harvest, aware, perhaps, of the goings-on in the hundred court, where some of them may have testified that the Norman lord Hugh de Berners had seized land from the canons of the cathedral. Orderic Vitalis, the Anglo-Norman historian, observed in the 1120s: ‘The English are concerned only in the tilling of their fields: feasts and convivialities are more to their taste than battles.’


In the time of Thomas a Becket


Sixty-eight years after the Conqueror’s survey, in 1154, comes the first reference to Stepney church in the records. Its omission from Domesday is without significance; many, many churches that are known to have been in existence at the time were not recorded. The probability is that a very old church stood where St Dunstan’s is now, serving the 500 or so people in the hamlets around; in the City there were about 300 people to each church, and the pattern in the countryside of village churches was well established.


St Dunstan’s parish, which was delineated by this time, comprised about 4,500 acres, the whole of the triangle of land bounded by the City, the Thames and the Lea, with only Bromley assuming independent parochial status. Stepney parish included the suburb of Whitechapel (Algate Street), the villages at Bow and Old Ford, a number of scattered hamlets and isolated farmsteads (Mile End, Shadwell, Wapping, Poplar, Bethnal Green, Limehouse) and Stepney Marsh. East Smithfield and the Portsoken in due course become part of the parish of St Botolph Aldgate.


The church at the centre of the Tower Hamlets was firmly established now, with a collection of farms and cottages around it, no doubt – although gravel quarrying and flooding have left no archaeological indicators of domestic habitation at that time. The landlord bishop was in his palace at Bethnal Green, from time to time, while the bailiffs of the Norman aristocracy took rents in kind and cash, and English peasants were at the plough. We have enough in the way of evidence, deeds and charters mainly, to create a reasonable picture of the twelfth-century East End and to see what changes took place during the reigns of William Rufus and Henry I, and the civil war that followed.


The first year of the reign of Thomas Becket’s stormy king, Henry II, was 1154. His accession rescued the realm from seventeen years of civil war and the devastation that racked the kingdom while Matilda, granddaughter of William the Conqueror, and her cousin Stephen fought for the throne, with London taking Stephen’s part. According to the chronicler, in these chaotic and lawless times poor men starved, taxes were high and corn, meat, cheese and butter were in short supply. Swine and cattle plagues had savaged the land; in 1131 a tenth of all ploughs were laid up for want of beasts to pull them. For the eastern villagers, especially the farmers in Stepney Marsh, the great floods of November 1099 and August 1115 must have wrought havoc.


Looking west from Stepney church, across the wide, flat cornfields, traversed by quiet ways and dotted with farms, you could see the towers, turrets and walls of the City of London, guarded by its three castles; a metropolis of some 50,000 souls, the largest city north of the Alps. The eleventh and twelfth centuries saw the phenomenal growth of London; it was said to have been, with Cologne, one of the two ‘urban phenomena’ of northern Europe. William FitzStephen’s famous description, written in about 1180, is of a demi-paradise, marred only by ‘the immoderate drinking of fools’ and the frequency of fires. Twice between Domesday and the accession of Henry II it had been burnt to the ground; the cathedral was rebuilt, the new one being the largest church in England, with the tallest spire. The streets, alleys and wharves buzzed with life and trade; there was gold from Arabia, spice and incense from Scythia, palm oil from Baghdad, gems from Egypt, silk from China, wine from France, and furs from Norway and Russia. The king’s palace ‘exalts its head and stretches wide’, situated at the end of a road lined with mansions to the west of the City.


Stepney village was slightly farther to the east of the City than Westminster was to the west. From 1052 Westminster had been the king’s London headquarters, and as such was to attract courtiers, bishops and the nobility, and the high-class tradesmen who serviced them; thus the ancient origins of the West and East Ends. City merchants, made rich by trade and commerce, tended to look east for their suburban retreats and investments in land.


Midway between the Colchester Road and the Roman riverside highway, Stepney village lay among fields and meadows that were criss-crossed with streams, half a mile from the riverbank and high enough above it to be safe from flooding. To its north was a dense and immense forest. On the fringe of this was the hamlet of Bethnal Green, a few cottages and city merchants’ houses clustered around St Winifred’s well and the clearing known as the Green. Among the trees was the bishop’s palace, with its farms and outbuildings. The earliest reference to the hamlet by name is a thirteenth-century grant by Mathilda le Vayre of Stepney to Henry Dariere, wheelwright of Aldgate Street, and his wife Agatha, of a parcel of land next to her house in Blithehale. You can walk the route from Stepney village to the bishop’s manor house today by setting off from north of the church up Whitehorse Lane, crossing the Mile End Road into Globe Road and then taking Approach Road up to Victoria Park. The mansion lay just to the right of the gate into the park.


To get to Stepney from the City you could leave via the eastern gate (Aldgate), newly rebuilt, facing onto the Colchester Road, then turn right towards the river after 1 mile (at Mile End). Along here was some ribbon development, spilling out from the City. It would become Whitechapel, but was known for some years to come as Algatestreet. Alternatively you could take the southern route. Down by the river, north-east of the Tower, was a postern, St Peter’s gate, which opened onto East Smithfield; thence there were two routes to Stepney and the old port of Ratcliff (La Rede Clive in 1294). The northerly one, which would become Cable Street and Brook Street (at the Ratcliff end), was Hachestreet, meaning Gate Street (by 1250). By 1542 the west end was called Hog Lane, by 1607 Rosemary Lane, later Royal Mint Street. Running parallel to Hache Street, nearer the river, was the old Roman road to Ratcliff. By 1272, and probably before, it was called Shadwell Street (‘vicum de Shadwell’) and would later become The Highway. A turning off this road, down across the marshy land that bordered the river, led to Wapping Mill, along what is now Wapping Lane. The Roman highway known as Ermine Street led north from Bishopsgate through Spitalfields; another Roman road probably ran along the line of Bethnal Green Road; and the Cambridge Road ran north from Mile End to Hackney.


Eight hundred years ago, then, eight of the East End’s main thoroughfares were already marked out; and there would be little change until the nineteenth century. The greatest change in the topography of the area since Domesday was probably along the Colchester Road at the ford over the Lea. According to tradition, Henry I’s Scottish queen, Matilda, on her way to visit the nunnery at Barking and riding through the swollen river, lost some of her attendants in the floodwaters. She had two bridges built, between 1110 and 1118, one over the Lea itself and one over its tributary, the Channelsea. The main one had three round arches supported by massive piers, and is thought to have been the first arched stone bridge in the country, predating London Bridge by some years. The good queen, says Lysons, ‘caused the road to be turned’; the Colchester Road, which had crossed the Lea at Old Ford, is thought to have been diverted from its old course, a new one being thrown across the marshes by Bromley, probably along the line of existing footpaths. These days the roaring Bow Flyover marks the spot where a pretty little medieval bridge stood for over 700 years.


The three bowed arches were obviously something of a local talking point, and when cottages, mills (three were built after the construction of the new causeway) and bakehouses gathered near the bridge, the village on the Middlesex side came to be known as Stratford atte Bow, meaning the street by the ford at the bowed bridge. Leland wrote: ‘The town of Stratford [was] nowe called Bowe, because the bridge was arched like unto a bowe, a rare piece of work’. On the Essex side, where apparently thorn bushes grew in abundance, the hamlet (of West Ham parish) was known as Stratford Langthorne. Although the earliest reference to Stratford in the records is dated 1177, there was evidently already some settlement round the ford, otherwise the villages might, perhaps, have been called something like Bridgeside or Thornbridge.


Barking Abbey was originally made responsible for the upkeep of the bridge, but quite soon the maintenance of the bridges and causeway between Stratford Bow and Ham was assigned to the new abbey of Stratford Langthorne. This was built in 1135 in the marshes on the Channelsey river, about half a mile south of the road, on the Essex side. Founded by the Essex magnate William de Montfichet, it became a rich and important centre, visited by royalty.


On the Middlesex side of the Lea, in Bromley, was the more modest house of St Leonard’s, Bromley. The nunnery was to become famous in years to come by its association with Chaucer’s character sketch of the Canterbury pilgrim, the Prioress Madame Eglantine, who spoke the French ‘in the manner of Stratford atte Bow’.


St Leonard’s was an older foundation than the abbey over the river at Stratford; the Victorian historian of Bromley supposing that it had been there since Dunstan’s day, but much more likely it was founded between 1086 and 1122 by Maurice, Bishop of London or his successor. It was endowed with 2 hides of episcopal lands and the 3½ hides of Domesday Roscelin lands, William Roscelin being the probable co-founder with the bishop. As well as the manor of Bromley, the priory had tenements in Southwark, and lands in Kent, Essex and Cambridgeshire. Apart from their home manor of Upper Bromley, with its farmlands and two watermills, the main source of income for the nuns came from four churches, one of which was Islington. The ownership of the latter was in dispute between 1163 and 1183 with the canons of St Paul’s; Bishop Gilbert Foliot finally adjudicated, and it was agreed that the priory was to hold the church from the canons for the annual payment of 1 mark, and were to appoint and pay a priest to serve it. The priory’s chapel, dedicated to St Mary, came to be used as the parish church of Bromley, and the parish and manor of Upper Bromley belonged to the nuns, who took the tithes from the parishioners and the manorial dues from their tenants. Meanwhile the great city house of Austin Canons, Holy Trinity, had started acquiring land in Bromley between 1144 and 1165, and by the late thirteenth century were lords of the manor of Lower Bromley. The small parish of Bromley was the only part of the Tower Hamlets triangle that lay outside the jurisdiction of Stepney church, until Whitechapel was accorded parish status in the fourteenth century.


Today there is nothing left of St Leonard’s Priory or the church except street names: Priory Street and St Leonard’s Street. About a quarter of a mile to the east of the priory site, however, on the opposite side of the roaring dual carriageway of the Northern Approach Road to the Blackwall Tunnel, just near a giant Tesco’s, is a spot that helps the imagination to recreate the distant past. This is the heritage site of Three Mills Island, on land once belonging to Stratford Abbey but very close to the site of St Leonard’s Priory. In an unexpected peaceful oasis the channels of the Lea curve and bubble through grassy banks, presided over by graceful eighteenth-century mill buildings. This mill, the largest extant tide-mill in the world, was operational until 1941. Here is the place to conjure up those days when the gigantic wheels ground corn for the black-clad daughters, sisters and widows of city merchants. They were sent to live in Bow, in rural isolation on the banks of the river, to rise at dawn for prayers, to speak to no man, without bed linen or fun, to fast and mortify their fleshly desires, to be punished for gossiping or swearing by eating alone. That was the rule, not necessarily the practice, and the priory had by the thirteenth century acquired a reputation for ‘goings-on’. In 1282 Archbishop Pecham, whose attempts to get a deformed girl into the nunnery had been blocked by the prioress who objected to her handicap, said that he wished that not only the Stratford nuns, about whom there were so many scandals, but all other worldly nuns were deformed, so that they might lead no one into sin.


Domesday records eight mills on the Lea and its tributaries, and Bow, Bromley and Stratford were already baking communities, supplying bread for the City, although the first reference to this is not until the mid-thirteenth century. Mills and bakehouses lined the riverbanks and early morning carts, piled high with loaves, rumbled into the City through Aldgate. There would be ongoing squabbles with the City bakers, who were in competition for an expanding market as the population of the City grew.


At least as important as the corn mills were the fullers’ mills. In the twelfth century a technical revolution brought mills to the most arduous task of fulling cloth. Woven cloth, taken from the loom, has a loose, open texture, and in order to tighten and thicken the material it was soaked in water and fullers’ earth, then pounded with clubs or stamped on. The watermill was adapted to mechanise this process: heavy hammers were attached to the great beam, and as it turned the hammers pounded the cloth. The earliest reference to a fulling mill on the Lea is to the mill at Old Ford, which belonged to St Helen’s Priory and is dated 1293, but local mills had probably already been adapted for fulling before that. There was one at Stratford in 1297, and both the City Bridge House and the priory of St Thomas of Acon owned fulling mills there in 1303. In 1318 there was one on the Bishop’s Stepney manor.


Leaving the villages around Bow Bridge, with their mills and bakeries and the two new abbeys, either side of the Lea, we will turn back to London and take the Thames-side route out of the City towards Stepney village and Ratcliff, starting at the postern gate north of the Tower. The gate opened onto the open ground of East Smithfield, where long ago the Saxon knights of the Cnichtengild held their tournaments, on what are now the approaches to Tower Bridge.


By mid-century the City knights’ guild was no longer in charge of this patch. In 1125 the guild gave up, or was forced to relinquish its jurisdiction over the Portsoken, the strip of land that stretched from the Thames up to Bishopsgate. It was probably one of the most significant moments for the history of the East End when the City guild of English Knights gave up its considerable powers over the eastern suburbs of the City; perhaps it can be viewed as the final postscript to the Norman Conquest. The knights had hung on through the turmoil of the invasion, having their rights reaffirmed by William I and renewed by Henry I. Now the guild members, described by Stow as the ‘progeny of those noble English knights … Ralph Fitalgod [an alderman, prebend of Rugemere and a descendant of Edmund FitzAlgot who had the Domesday mill at Old Ford], Wilmarde le Deucreshe, Orgar le Prude, Edward Hupcornehill, Blackstanus, Alwine, his kinsman and Robert his brother, the sons of Leafstanus the goldsmith, Wiso his son, Hugh Fitzvulgar and Algare Sescusme’, attended the chapter house of Holy Trinity, alias Christchurch Priory, and surrendered their powers to the canons there.


The new, flourishing priory, a house of Augustinian canons, stood on the site of the ancient church of Holy Cross and St Mary Magdalene, just inside the City walls at Aldgate. The church of St Katharine Cree marks the site of its cemetery, and the priory buildings covered the area of St James’s Place, Duke Street and Mitre Street. It had been founded in 1107–08 by Henry I’s queen, Matilda, and endowed with the income from various city churches, the gate of Aldgate itself, a basket of fabulous jewels from Constantinople and a precious piece of the True Cross. Under the tutelage of its first prior, a go-ahead protégé of Archbishop Anselm, it became an enormously successful institution, popular with Londoners; by 1291 it had properties in seventy-two city parishes and, as we have seen, owned the manor of Lower Bromley. In 1125 the prior took over from the Knights’ Guild as lord of the manor for the ‘inner East End’, responsible for law and order, land transactions and the regulation of trade, and the taking of tithes.


The transfer of the Portsoken to the priory was not smooth; various constables of the Tower claimed the southern part as theirs, and the row rumbled on for some thirty years. In 1136 a panel of twenty-one men (all evidently of English rather than Norman stock, and some certainly members of the Knights’ Guild) swore that this part of the soke had belonged to the guild since Edward the Confessor’s time.


In 1157 there was a major row between the priory and Ailward, the priest at St Peter’s Chapel in the Tower, as to who had the right to bury people living in the southern part of the Portsoken (and hence the fees). The priest at St Botolph’s Aldgate, the priory’s church, one Witthulfus, had administered the last rites to Godlune, the wife of Eilricus, an East Smithfield ‘rusticus’, evidently a sheep farmer. The chaplain at the Tower appropriated the body for burial, claiming that the deceased was his parishioner. The archdeacon found in favour of St Botolph’s and the widower duly handed over to Witthulfus six sheep, a roebuck and a cloak, by way of compensation or as his ‘mortuary gift’. Although from now on ‘All the street and all the ponds of Dudyngspond were adjudged to be in the parish of St Botolph as it had been in the time when Robert had been priest of St Botolph and Derman(n)us priest of St. Peter’, the Tower continued to make its claim. The matter seems to have been settled in favour of St Botolph’s in 1166.


East of the Tower, along towards Doddings Pond, was a vineyard. The climate was slightly milder than it is today and the sun was hot enough in those long-ago summers to ripen the grapes that flourished on many an aristocratic and monastic field. Another Queen Matilda, King Stephen’s feisty French wife, grieving for the death of her two small children Baldwin and Maud, bought this vineyard and the adjoining watermill (where Irongate Stairs are now, on the river frontage of the Tower Hotel) from the new priory. She had a hospital built there in 1147–48 where a master, brothers and sisters were to say daily prayers for the souls of her children and to take care of thirteen paupers. The priory was to run the hospital with the queen reserving to herself and her successors the appointment of the master. At that time crusaders were returning from the east with tales of the martyrdom of Katharine of Alexandria, whose body had been torn apart on a wheel. She was to become England’s favourite saint, and the queen’s house for the poor was one of the first institutions to bear her name. In 1273, when the hospital was refounded by Eleanor of Provence, there were twenty-four inmates, mainly old or fallen women. In years to come St Katharine by the Tower was well known as a scandalous house, little better than a brothel.


The foundation of St Katharine’s might be seen as the beginning of the special relationship of the queens of England with the East End; the hospital, as it was under royal protection, was the only monastic establishment to survive the Dissolution, supposedly thanks to Anne Boleyn’s intervention. It still exists today, relocated to Limehouse as a religious retreat and conference centre. The nineteenth-century dock and the twentieth-century marina on its original site kept the name of St Katharine’s and prayers are still said for Matilda, Stephen and the royal babies at the coronarium among the fancy yachts and tourist boutiques.


In medieval times the black-clad canons from Queen Matilda’s Priory at Aldgate and the brothers, sisters and reformed prostitutes from the other Queen Matilda’s hospital down by the river were a common sight about the streets and lanes. They were familiar enough to find their way into the jingle about executions at the Tower, which turned into Oranges and Lemons:





Old father Baldpate


Say the bells of Aldgate


Maids in white aprons


Say the bells of St Katharine’s





Passing St Katherine’s and taking Shadwell Street, the lower, riverside route in the direction of Stepney and Ratcliff, you would pass Toddyneslane, curving down to the right, leading by Dodding’s pond to Crassh Mills. The rector of Stepney, William de Sancte Marie Ecclesie, and his vicar, Roger, were involved in a dispute with Holy Trinity Priory at Aldgate over the valuable tithes from the mills in 1233. There were at least five mills on the Thames hereabouts, including Crassh Mills, St Katharine’s Mill, Wapping Mill, at the end of what is now Wapping Lane, and Shadwell Mill a little farther east.


The damp marshes of Wapping lay to the south of Shadwell Street, a soggy place with clumps of rushes, covered with pools and meres and often flooded at high tide. Part of modern Wapping, probably the eastern part, known as Walmarsh, was drained in the twelfth century or even earlier, and the hamlet was a cluster of cottages around the area of Wapping Mill, where corn was ground for St Paul’s, who owned it. In 1218 Terricus of Aldgate leased it for 5 marks a year. According to an inquest of 1324, in ‘ancient times’ 100 acres had been recovered in Walmarsh, and the plots in this area, between St Katharine’s Marsh and the vill of Shadwell, had been granted by an unknown lord of the manor to his freemen and bondmen, in return for the service of keeping the river wall and the dykes in good repair. Two ‘wall reeves’ were in charge; they reported to the manor court.


Shadwell, the place of the shallow well, was the next place along the riverside road, with a mill and a manor house, and maybe not much else. By the late twelfth century it was in the hands of one Brice of Shadwell, who probably lived there; the mill is first referred to in 1198. Brice’s lands included two plots in Walmarsh, which he acquired from Thomas Becket’s nephew, Theobald of Helles. In 1228 the Shadwell manor was granted by the bishop to the Dean of St Paul’s for the maintenance of the Dean and Chapter, and became known henceforth as Dean’s Linches. Linche was the name given to the balks dividing the strips into which sloping fields were divided.


Shadwell Street and Hache Street, with a stream called Cropet’s Ditch lying between them, led to Ratcliff, the old Roman port. The earliest references to it by name are in 1294, ‘la Rede clive’, and in 1307, ‘la Redeclyve juxta Stubenheth’. The derivation of the name is not clear, although Kevin McDonnell supposed that the low cliff formed by the sharp descent from a gravel terrace ‘revealed the red sandy gravel and stood in striking contrast to the green of the surrounding countryside’. Although there is no archaeological evidence of any medieval habitation here before the fifteenth century, it became the hub of the riverside settlement part of the East End, with a busy market at Ratcliff Cross and a dock in use certainly in the fourteenth century and probably before. What scant documentary evidence there is shows that by 1300 there were houses in Cleve (Cliff Street) and in Forby Street (now Limehouse).


Cleve Street (now Butcher Row and Whitehorse Road) led up from the landing place at the cliffs past the church, following for 2 miles the line of a Saxon trackway that went to the bishop’s palace at Bethnal Green. The heart of Stepney was Cleve Street and the area around the church, where in all probability Domesday villagers had their cottages.


St Dunstan’s is a wealthy church. In the list of churches paying Pope Nicholas’s tax in 1292 it appears as one of the richest in the diocese. It was evidently well established by the time of its first appearance in the records in 1154, servicing a wide area. Today’s church has nothing of its Saxon or Norman predecessor, except the stone plaque of the crucifixion and the font; it was rebuilt in the thirteenth century and again in the fifteenth. It reigned supreme over the eastern marches, except for Bromley, which belonged to the nuns. There was only one chapel of ease or daughter church, down in the Marsh, of which more anon. The church’s ties were firmly with St Paul’s and, as one would expect, the bishop; the rectors were almost all canons of the cathedral. The first rector known to us by name was the bishop’s steward, and some of his medieval successors were relatives of Bishops of London.


The hamlet of Poplar, the place of the poplar trees, lay to the south-east of Stepney village. Although its name does not appear in the records until 1327 (as Popeler), there was a largish settlement here by the twelfth century, perhaps because of its proximity to the landing place at Blackwall. A row of thirty houses were strung across the neck of the peninsula, along the line of today’s High Street and going up into North Street. There were nine at ‘Westwall’ and eleven at ‘Newbiggin’. The manor house of Bernard of Stepney, a tenant in chief of the king, probably stood just north of the High Street, with its ten fields and a vineyard. A shallow stream, the Schadfliet, flowed under a bridge in Poplar, and gave its name to an estate which was held by Bernard’s daughter.


To the south lay the wild and windswept Stepney Marsh, later called the Isle of Dogs, patterned with dykes and marsh walls, a place of sandpipers and curlews. At the tip of the peninsula was the ferry to Greenwich. The marsh had been drained long ago, and even though there was still an ever-present threat of flooding it was far from uninhabited. The chief landholder was William de Pontefract, William of the broken bridge, perhaps. He was the bishop’s steward for his manor at Stortford in the 1180s and ‘90s and had a manor house and farms in the centre of the south of the peninsula, 750 acres of land in all; he also owned the ferry. William (or one of his predecessors) had built a chapel for his tenants, dedicated to the Virgin. The Marsh folk evidently used it as their parish church, which got the Pontefract family in trouble with the mother church. Some time between 1163 and 1179 the pope wrote a letter about the dispute to the Bishop of London; the chapel had been built while the rector was away on study leave, it was claimed, and the locals had started paying tithes to the chapel rather than to the mother church. William de Pontefract’s reply was that the chapel had been there for a long time. St Mary in the Marsh continued to serve as a chapel of ease for the locals until it was swept away in the Great Flood of 1448.


North of Stepney village was the ‘pleasant meadow’ at Mile End, stretching along the Colchester Road, a place for recreation and assembly for Londoners. This became, during the Middle Ages, the prize residential location in the east for city merchants. On its south side was the manor of Hulls or Helles. In later years this was acquired by Sir John Philpot, Stepney’s most prominent fourteenth-century resident. The manor house was well set back from the road, slightly to the west of its junction with the Cambridge Road to Bethnal Green; the site is remembered today in the name of Philpot Street. The manor had its origins with the twelfth-century Helles family, Thomas Becket’s sister Agnes had married Thomas Fitz Theobald e Helles, the founder of the Cheapside monastery of St Thomas of Acon. Looking at the street today, a scruffy side-turning off Commercial Road just behind the Royal London Hospital, it is well nigh impossible to imagine that this might possibly have been the home of the sister of Thomas the magnificent, chancellor and archbishop, and the English Church’s most venerated saint.


Walking towards the City from the Helles territory one would pass along what later became Whitechapel High Street, at that time Alegatestreet; this was the name used for an area larger than the later Whitechapel parish, extending into the City, to Lime Street and Fenchurch Street. There is little evidence for housing in Whitechapel in Becket’s day, but it is likely that there was some city overspill, with cottages, shops and workshops, perhaps, lining the highway. There were enough people around for a chapel of ease to be built by 1282, just outside the Bars (posts linked by a chain). It stood where Whitechapel church was until it was bombed in the Second World War; it is marked now by a patch of green that used to be known to the locals as Itchy Park. By 1320 it had its own parish, which meant there were enough folk around to make the tithes worth having. This little whitewashed chapel gave its name to the area, but originally it was known as St Mary Matfelon or Matfallon, it is assumed after the family who founded it.


About three-quarters of a mile along the road to the west was the City gate and, standing outside it, the church of the Knights’ Guild, dedicated to St Botolph, patron saint of travellers. Just inside the gate was a well or fountain, ancestor of the famous Aldgate Pump. Both church and gate were rebuilt in the twelfth century, the gate between 1108 and 1147. John Stow thought that Aldgate meant old gate, but the ‘d’ did not appear until 1486–87; before that it was called Ealsegate (1070) or usually, from 1108, Alegate: this may have brewing connotations or, more likely, once belonged to or was built by someone called Ealh. The church, Saxon in origin and taken over by Holy Trinity Priory in 1125, had a parish that lay partly in the City and partly outside, the Middlesex portion extending from Petticoat Lane down to the river and East Smithfield. It still stands today, though many times rebuilt.


Our tour of the Tower Hamlets finishes as we leave the muddy highway (the Mile End Road), the lanes across cornfields, with willows and dyke walls, meres and streams, watermills, isolated farmsteads, clusters of cottages, manor houses and monasteries. We go through the massive gateway into the narrow, bustling streets that were Becket’s London. Before we take a look at the few East Enders that have left some account of themselves from those days, we will go up to the Bishops Gate and out into Spitalfields.


Ermine Street was the Saxon name for the road to York built by the Romans. It left London at Bishopsgate, and the London end of the highway became a fashionable place for suburban mansions. So far it was probably open ground, with perhaps some city overspill and inns – as one might expect on a main road at the entrance to a great city. In Norton Folgate, a soke or liberty that belonged to St Paul’s, perhaps the 9 acres that in Domesday was ad portam Episcopi (by the bishop’s gate) was the priory of St Mary. Later known as St Mary Spital, it gave Spitalfields its name. This house of Austin canons stood on the east side of Bishopsgate Street. It was founded by a citizen of London called Walter Brown and his wife Rosea in 1197. Twelve canons, five lay brothers and seven lay sisters (in 1303) worshipped God and tended the needy, lighting lamps between the beds in the infirmary ‘for their comfort’. It was primarily a lying-in hospital, charged also with entertaining pilgrims, caring for the sick and for the children born there whose mothers had died; the little charges were kept by the sisters until they were seven years old. The hospital served London well for nearly 350 years. When it was dissolved, much against the wishes of the citizens, it had 180 beds.


By the close of the twelfth century, when King John took the throne, London was three times richer than any other city in England and its population was about five times as great as it had been at the Conquest. How many people lived outside the walls on the east is impossible to say, but it is certain that there were a good many more than the 900 or so estimated from Domesday. There is every reason to think that London expanded eastwards as much as it did to the west, perhaps more so. At least one deed (1216) refers to the ‘town’ of Stepney. The public buildings we know about, the East End’s large contribution to the explosion of religious building in and around London, were the two hospitals in Wapping and Bishopsgate, Bow nunnery (all three newly built), a rich church, an episcopal palace and one (possibly new) chapel of ease. Two new stone bridges spanned the Lea. As to the dwelling places of the ordinary folk, the cottages, shops and workhouses, breweries and bakehouses, evidence is piecemeal, as there was no record of tenure at this date. Manor houses cannot be positively placed, so far, and their very existence is largely surmise.


The people themselves are shadowy figures. Most Londoners are said to have been of Saxon descent, and presumably the same applies in our area. In any case, a hundred years after the Conquest the great-great-grandchildren of the original Norman invaders would hardly have considered themselves foreigners. Although Frenchmen continued to come and settle (Becket’s father, a port reeve of London, being a case in point) and to take senior posts in the church, there is generally thought to have been a good deal of integration. Christopher Brooke maintained that after the first generation of immigrants names lose their significance, as it became the fashion for the English to give their children French names.


The bishops, as lords of Stepney Manor and sometimes resident at Bethnal Green, are the chief local celebrities, and the best-known East Enders from these days. They were all Norman, or of Norman descent: Hugh D’Orival, Maurice, Richard de Belmeis, Gilbert the Universal, Robert de Sigillo, Richard de Belmeis II, Gilbert Foliot, Richard FitzNeal, William of Sainte-Mère Eglise. As magnates, royal advisers, diplomats and administrators, and rulers of the church in the largest city in the Anglo-Norman Empire, they were very important men indeed. Some attracted the attention of the chroniclers more than others.


Maurice (bishop 1086–1107), reputedly ‘worldly and lascivious’, was said to have had sex on prescription from his doctors, and was owner of a particularly extravagant chasuble, ornamented with gold and precious stones. He was chaplain and chancellor to the Conqueror. As we saw at Domesday, Ranulf Flambard, chief minister to William Rufus, had been a member of Maurice’s household and had about 420 acres in Stepney, perhaps given to him by Maurice. The Flambard clan was to dominate the chapter at St Paul’s for many years.


Richard de Belmeis (bishop 1108–27), probably from Beaumais-sur-Dive in the Calvados, came to England as a tenant of the first Norman Earl of Shrewsbury, and had extensive lands in Shropshire. He served the king as his seneschal in Shrewsbury and was only ordained as a priest just before his consecration as bishop in 1108. As much a layman as Becket, he was a true family man who saw to it that his sons and nephews got all the best posts in the cathedral chapter. In the first half of the century clerical marriage was common, and a quarter of the canons of St Paul’s were married men. His nephew, of the same name, followed him as bishop some twenty years after his death.


Gilbert Foliot, a relative of the Belmeises, is much better known than any of his fellow bishops of London. He was bishop for twenty-five years (1163–87), and as the arch-enemy of Thomas Becket has had a great deal of attention from chroniclers and hagiographers; a large volume of his correspondence has also survived. Ascetic and high born, a former monk at Cluny, he took against the king’s favourite on account of his worldliness and relatively humble birth, and was jealous of his promotion to archbishop. The king, he said famously, had wrought a miracle by turning a secular man and a soldier into an archbishop. He is known to have been at his Stepney residence on Ascension Day in 1169, when he received with fury the news that Becket’s letter, excommunicating him for ‘disobedience and contempt’, had been delivered on the high altar at St Paul’s. We even have the words he wrote in his rage: ‘[Becket] puts his scythe to another’s corn, since he has power neither over my person nor my church – my person since I never made profession nor promised obedience to him, nor to the church of Canterbury in the name of this church, that is the church of London, my church, since the church of London claims back what was taken from it long since.’


Richard Fitzneal (bishop 1189–98), originally a lawyer, is best known for being the author of the Dialogue of the Exchequer. He was much involved in disputes between Richard I’s brother John and William de Longchamp, when the king was away on crusade, and in 1193 he was made one of the guardians of the king’s ransom.
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